
 
 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
 
Meeting: GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
Date and Time: FRIDAY, 5 SEPTEMBER 2025, AT 10.00 AM 

 
Place: COUNCIL CHAMBER - APPLETREE COURT, BEAULIEU 

ROAD, LYNDHURST, SO43 7PA 
 

Enquiries to: Email: andy.rogers@nfdc.gov.uk 
Andy Rogers Tel: 023 8028 5070 
 

 
PUBLIC INFORMATION: 
This agenda can be viewed online (https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk).  It can also 
be made available on audio tape, in Braille and large print. 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting.  The seating capacity of 
our Council Chamber public gallery is limited under fire regulations to 22. 
Members of the public can watch this meeting live, or the subsequent recording, on 
the Council’s website.  Live-streaming and recording of meetings is not a statutory 
requirement and whilst every endeavour will be made to broadcast our meetings, this 
cannot be guaranteed.  Recordings remain available to view for a minimum of 12 
months. 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
Members of the public may speak in accordance with the Council's public 
participation scheme: 
(a) on items within the General Purposes and Licensing Committee’s terms of 

reference which are not on the public agenda; and/or 
(b) on individual items on the public agenda, when the Chairman calls that item.  

Speeches may not exceed three minutes.   
Anyone wishing to attend the meeting, or speak in accordance with the Council’s 
public participation scheme, should contact the name and number shown above no 
later than 12.00 noon on Tuesday, 2 September 2025. 
 
Kate Ryan 
Chief Executive 
 
Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA 
www.newforest.gov.uk 
 
 
 

https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/
https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1191/Public-participation-at-meetings
https://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1191/Public-participation-at-meetings


 
 

 

 

AGENDA  
 Apologies  
1.   MINUTES  
 To confirm the minutes of the meetings held on 10 January 2025 and 12 May 2025 

as a correct record. 
  

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an 

agenda item.  The nature of the interest must also be specified. 
 
Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services 
prior to the meeting. 
  

3.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 To receive any public participation in accordance with the Council’s public 

participation scheme. 
  

4.   AMENDMENT TO THE TAXI LICENSING POLICY BASED ON THE INSTITUTE 
OF LICENSING SUITABILITY GUIDANCE (Pages 3 - 64) 

 To consider proposed amendments to the taxi licensing policy based on the 
Institute of Licensing Suitability Guidance.  
  

5.   LICENSING AUTHORITY PERFORMANCE REPORT (Pages 65 - 78) 
 To receive the Licensing Authority performance report, which sets out the work of 

the Licensing Authority over the past 12 months together with the workplan for 
2025-26. 
  

6.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 To agree the following dates for meetings in 2026/27 (all Fridays at 10.00am). 

 
2026 2027 
19 June 
4 September 
27 November  

15 January 
12 March 

 
7.   ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  
 

To: Councillors Councillors 
 

 Neil Tungate (Chairman) 
Richard Young (Vice-Chairman) 
Steve Clarke 
Jack Davies 
Philip Dowd 
Allan Glass 
David Harrison 
 

David Hawkins 
Nigel Linford 
Colm McCarthy 
Dave Penny 
Alvin Reid 
Janet Richards 
 

 



General Purposes and Licensing Committee – 5 September 2025 

Taxi Licensing Policy – Amendments to Appendix B 

Purpose For consideration of amendments to the taxi 
Licensing Policy At General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee on 5 September 2025.  

Classification Public 

Executive Summary This report presents proposed amendments to 
Appendix B – The Convictions Policy, following 
the revision of the Institute of Licencing’s 
Suitability Guidance 

Recommendations That General Purposes and Licensing 
Committee review the amendments to the 
Taxi Licensing Policy (Appendix B) 
following the publication of the revised 
Institute of Licensing’s Suitability Guidance 
and agree consultation on the proposed 
amendments.  

Reasons for 
recommendation(s) 

The Convictions Policy in Appendix B of the Taxi 
Licensing Policy is based on the Institute of 
Licensing’s Suitability Guidance. This has 
recently been updated and amendments are 
proposed to the Appendix B of the Taxi Licensing 
Policy to reflect the updates.  

Ward(s) All  

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Dan Poole 

Strategic Director(s) Richard Knott – Strategic Director of Housing & 
Communities 

Officer Contact Christa Ferguson 
Licensing Manager 
023 8028 5352 
christa.ferguson@nfdc.gov.uk  
 
Joanne McClay 
Service Manager – Environmental and 
Regulation 
023 8028 5325 
joanne.mcclay@nfdc.gov.uk 

3

Agenda Item 4

mailto:christa.ferguson@nfdc.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.mcclay@nfdc.gov.uk


Introduction 

1. The Taxi Licensing Policy 2025 was adopted by Full Council on 24 
February 2025 following an extensive review with the trade, Officers, 
Councillors and the public.   

2. The Policy refers to guidance including that produced by the Institute 
of Licensing (IoL), in order to promote consistency, raise standards 
and assist in the protection of the public.  

3. The Institute of Licensing (IoL) Suitability Guidance was originally 
published in 2018 and has since been revised to include information 
on offenders and offending, update thresholds and considerations for 
some offences and placed an emphasis on risk-based decision 
making.  

4. The Licensing Authority is seeking to incorporate this updated 
guidance within the Taxi Licensing Policy. 

Background 

5. The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides 
that a Licensing Authority must satisfy themselves, before a licence 
is granted, that the applicant for a driver or operator licence is a fit 
and proper person. 

6. The Council requires an enhanced criminal records check (DBS) as 
part of its fit and proper person test and the Taxi Licensing Policy 
includes a Convictions’ Policy (in Appendix B) to guide applicants and 
decision makers in relation to interpreting information highlighted 
during the application process.  

7. The Convictions’ Policy is based on the Institute of Licensing Guidance 
on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the 
hackney carriage and private hire trades, originally published in 2018 
and revised in 2024 (Appendix 1). 

8. The guidance is referenced in the Department for Transport’s 
Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards (2022) and both 
provide the basis for decision making on offences and convictions.  

9. Whilst the IoL Guidance provides direction to Licensing Authorities in 
determining suitability of applicants, it does not remove the 
requirement for Licensing Authorities to adopt their own policies, 
which they should have regard to when making licensing 
determinations. As with any policy, each case must be determined on 
its own merits, having taken into account all the information 
available.  

4



10. The Suitability Guidance was revised following extensive consultation 
with the taxi and private hire trade, national and local government 
councillors, lawyers, the Probation Service, the Police and interested 
charities. It has been endorsed by key bodies including Lawyers in 
Local Government (LLG), the National Association of Licensing and 
Enforcement Officers (NALEO) and the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN). 

11. The guidance has successfully been cited in legal proceedings where 
adopted by local authorities and as a stand-alone reference. 

Issues for consideration 

12. The amended Convictions’ Policy (Appendix 2) highlights the 
enhanced and new sections in red text. The key amendments include: 

Section 5.0 

Updated publication dates for the Suitability Guidance and Statutory 
Taxi and Private Hire Standards documents. 

Section 5.2 

Offences involving exploitation and criminal harassment 
includes ‘stalking without violence’. 

Section 5.3 

Offences involving violence against persons, property or the 
State.  Further information is included on ‘fear of violence’ and that 
a licence will never be granted where there has been an offence of 
violence committed against a child or vulnerable adult.   

Section 5.4 

Offences involving Public Order.  This is a new section and states 
that a licence will not be granted for a period of 5 years following a 
public order offence.  

Section 5.6 

Offences involving Sex, indecency or obscene materials, which 
now includes ‘sexual harassment’. 

Section 5.9 

Offences involving Alcohol Abuse, Misuse or Dependency.  This 
is a new section which states that licences will not be granted until at 
least 5 years have elapsed from completing a sentence relating to 
drunkenness not in a motor vehicle and that medical testing or 

5



assessments may be required prior to an application being 
considered.  

Section 5.10 

Offences involving Discrimination.  This section has been 
enhanced to include non-compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and 
including refusal to carry assistance dogs or to provide mobility 
assistance. 

Section 5.11 

Offences involving Regulatory non-compliance.  This is a new 
section to address regulatory crimes which demonstrate a lack of 
compliance with legal requirements and whether the applicant is a 
safe and suitable person to hold a licence.  

Section 5.15 

Other motoring offences.  This includes time restrictions on 
granting of a licence where an offence resulted in injury to a person, 
damage to property or an insurance offence.  

Section 8.0 

Behaviours.  This is a new section that addresses driver behaviours 
which fall short of criminal behaviour but would give potential serious 
cause for concern, particularly for drivers with lone passengers. 
Where there is a pattern of repeated predatory behaviours, the 
applicant should not be licensed. 

Corporate plan priorities 

13. Theme: 

Empowering our residents to live healthy, connected and fulfilling 
lives. Future New Forest. Transforming tomorrow, together. 

14. Corporate Plan Objective: 

Protect and improve the health and wellbeing of our communities. 
Being financially responsible. 

15. Service Objective: 

Implementation of the Environmental and Regulation Service Plans. 

  

6



Consultation 

16. A consultation process will take place with key stakeholders 
regarding the proposed amendments to Appendix B, following 
agreement by Members at this meeting.    

17. Responses received will be reviewed and presented to Members at a 
General Purposes and Licensing Committee following the end of the 
consultation period, to agree any changes based on responses 
received. 

18. The updated policy will be presented to Full Council for Members to 
agree adoption of the amended Appendix B. 

Financial and resource implications 

19. There will be no additional costs in adoption of changes to Appendix 
B. 

Legal implications 

20. Adoption of the guidance as a core reference document and 
amendments to the policy, aligns the Council’s policy with national 
best practice and strengthens defensibility in appeals and judicial 
reviews.  

Risk Assessment 

21. A formal risk assessment is not required. 

Equalities implications 

22. Amendments to the policy ensure consistent and transparent 
decision-making to address discrimination.  

Crime and disorder implications 

23. Revision of the convictions policy enhances the Council’s ability to 
protect the public from unsuitable drivers and operators.  

Data protection / Information governance / ICT implications 

24. There are no direct implications.  

Conclusion 

25. The purpose of this report to the General Purposes and Licensing 
Committee will be to seek agreement to consult with trade and the 
public on the proposed amendments to the Convictions Policy 
(Appendix B). There are no other proposed amendments to the Policy. 

7



26. The proposed amendments, which adopt the IoL Suitability Guidance 
(2024) will strengthen the fit and proper considerations for drivers 
and applicants.  

 
 
Appendices: Background Papers: 

Appendix 1 – Institute of Licensing 
Suitability Guidance 2024 
 
Appendix 2– Revised Appendix B 
highlighting updates 

 

 

8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



Appendix B – Convictions’ Policy  
1.0 Introduction 

This policy provides guidance on the criteria taken into account by New Forest 
District Council (‘the Licensing Authority’) when determining whether or not an 
applicant or an existing licence holder is a fit and proper person to hold a dual 
driver licence or operator licence. 

The decision maker will consider all relevant factors when determining 
applications, including previous convictions, cautions and complaints and the 
time that has elapsed since these were committed. 

The overriding aim of the Licensing Authority is to protect the safety of the 
public and they will aim to ensure that any person licensed to drive a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle or an operator: 

- is a fit and proper person; and 

- does not pose a threat to the public. 

It will also aim to ensure that the public, in particular, children, young persons 
and vulnerable adults are adequately safeguarded. 

The term “fit and proper person” for the purposes of licensing is not legally 
defined and in assessing whether someone is “fit and proper” the Licensing 
Authority will consider enhanced conviction history, driving history and any 
offences, Right to Work in the UK and medical fitness, together with any other 
relevant information. 

Where licensing officers have delegated powers to grant licences, they will use 
these guidelines when making a decision to grant a licence. In certain 
circumstances applications for licences will be referred to the Licensing Sub-
Committee. Whilst officers and Elected Members will have regard to the 
guidelines contained in the policy, each case will be considered on its individual 
merits and where the circumstances demand, the committee/officer may depart 
from the guidelines. 

The type of offence, pattern of behaviour and overall history should be taken 
into consideration when determining an application. 

In addition, these factors will also be taken into account when action against a 
licence holder is being considered.   

2.0  Appeals 

Any applicant who is refused a driver or operator licence on the grounds that the 
Licensing Authority is not satisfied that they are not aa fit and proper person to 
hold such a licence has a right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days 
of the notice of refusal. 

 

APPENDIX 2 

57



Any driver or operator who has his/her licence revoked on the same grounds 
also has the right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the 
notice of revocation.  

3.0  Powers 

Sections 61 and 62 of the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 
allow the licensing authority to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a driver’s or 
operator’s licence respectively if the applicant/licence holder has been convicted 
of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency, violence; or an offence related to 
immigration; failure to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 
1847; failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; or any other reasonable cause. The 
commission of an offence or a serious allegation which falls within this policy and 
brings into question whether a licensed driver or operator is a fit and proper 
person to continue to hold a licence may lead the Licensing Authority to conclude 
that there is a “reasonable cause” to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew their 
licence. 

The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975, as amended, 
allows the Licensing Authority to take into account all convictions recorded 
against an applicant or the holder of a driver licence, whether spent or not. 
Therefore, the Licensing Authority will have regard to all relevant convictions or 
cautions, particularly where there is a long history of offending or a recent 
pattern of repeat offending.  

4.0  Consideration of disclosed criminal history 

Under the provisions of Sections 51, 55, and 59 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the Licensing Authority is required to 
ensure that any applicant for the grant or renewal of a hackney carriage and/or 
a private hire vehicle driver licence and/or private hire operator licence is a ‘fit 
and proper’ person to hold such a licence. However, if an applicant has any 
convictions, warnings, cautions or charges awaiting trial, the Licensing Authority 
will investigate all matters disclosed and any other matters that may be 
relevant. 

Licensed drivers and operators are required to notify the Licensing Authority in 
writing within 48 hours of an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any 
sexual offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence or any motoring 
offence or receipt of a police caution. Failure to do so will call into question the 
fitness and propriety of the licensee. 

The Licensing Authority requires an enhanced disclosure certificate from the DBS 
for any new or renewal driver licence application. Applicants for an operator 
licence will be required to obtain a basic DBS check at their own expense (unless 
they are the holder of a current hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence 
issued by NFDC).  

The Licensing Authority is also entitled to use other records and information that 
may be available to it in determining applications or an entitlement to continue 
holding a licence. This may include information held by the Licensing Authority 

58



or other licensing authorities and information disclosed by the police or any 
other third party. 

It is an offence for any person knowingly or recklessly to make a false 
declaration or to omit any material particular in giving information required by 
the application for a licence. Where an applicant has made a false statement or a 
false declaration on their application for the grant or renewal of a licence, the 
licence will normally be refused. 

For renewal applications and current licence holders, the policy will not be 
applied retrospectively where there are no new concerns or convictions. The 
policy will be applied to existing licence holders if any additional convictions are 
incurred, or they are otherwise brought to the attention of the Licensing 
Authority for conduct that would call into question a person’s suitability to hold a 
licence. 

Offences not covered by this policy will be considered by the Licensing Authority 
when determining whether the applicant/licensed driver or operator is a fit and 
proper person.  

5.0  Conviction guidelines 

This Appendixe following guidance is based on the Institute of Licensing 
document: “Suitability Guidance” issued in 2024. This replaces the previous 
version issued in 2018“Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and 
licensees in the hackney and private hire trades”, together with the “Statutory 
Taxi and Private Hire Standards” document published by the Department for 
Transport in July 2020 and updated in November 2022. 

These documents have been widely adopted by Licensing Authorities in the UK 
toand has been produced to promote consistency, raise standards and assist in 
the protection of the public. 

5.1 Offences resulting in death 

Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in 
the death of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury 
of another person they will not be licensed. 

5.2 Offences involving exploitation and criminal harassment 

Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related 
to, or has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another 
individual irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, 
they will not be licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual exploitation, 
grooming, psychological, emotional or financial abuse, stalking without violence, 
but this is not an exhaustive list. 

5.3 Offences involving violence against persons, property or the State 

Violence includes situations where the victim is put in fear, alarm or distress 
without any physical contact. It is accepted that the concept of “violence” is 
wide, but any such behaviour will be of concern. This appendix does not 

59



differentiate between levels of violence. It will be for the licensing authority to 
determine whether there is any justification for departing from this time period, 
dependant of the facts of a particular case. 

Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence, or connected with 
any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. Where the offence of 
violence was committed against a child or vulnerable adult, a licence will never 
be granted. 

5.4 Offences involving Public Order 

Where an applicant has a conviction for a public order offence or similar that is 
not itself an act of violence, a licence will not be granted for a period of 5 years. 

 

5.54 Offences involving Possession of a weapon 

Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other 
weapon related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7seven  years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

5.65 Offences involving Sex, indecency or obscene materials 

Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with 
illegal sexual activity or any form of indecency, a licence will not be granted. This 
includes any sexual harassment. 

In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any 
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any ‘barred’ list. 

5.76  Offences involving Dishonesty 

Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence of dishonesty, or any offence 
where dishonesty is an element of the offence, a licence will not be granted until 
at least 7seven years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 

 

5.87 Offences involving the use, possession or supply of Drugs 

Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the production, import, 
trade in, or supply of drugs, or possession with intent to supply or connected 
with possession with intent to supply, a licence will not be granted until at least 
10 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the 
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

5.9 Offences involving Alcohol abuse, Misuse or Dependency  

Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to drunkenness not in a 
motor vehicle, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed 

60



since the completion of the sentence imposed. If the applicant has a number of 
convictions for drunkenness and or there are indications of a medical problem 
associated with possible abuse, misuse of, or dependence on alcohol, the 
applicant will also be subject to additional medical testing/assessment before the 
application is considered. If the applicant was found to be dependent on alcohol, 
a licence will not be granted unless at least 5 years have elapsed since the 
dependency ceased.  

 

5.108 Offences involving Discrimination 

Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in 
any form, including non-compliance with the Equality Act 2010 a licence will not 
be granted until at least 7seven years have elapsed since the completion of any 
sentence imposed. This includes refusal to carry assistance dogs or to provide 
mobility assistance. 

 

5.11 Offences involving Regulatory non-compliance 

Regulatory crimes include local authority offences, licensing matters, and other offences 
prosecuted by other authorities. It also includes matters relating to the administration of 
justice such as failing to surrender to bail, and any other matter where regulations or 
requirements have been ignored or broken. These offences demonstrate a lack of 
compliance with legal requirements which would clearly be a worry in relation to taxi and 
private hire licensees. Serious consideration would need to be given as to whether they 
are a safe and suitable person to hold a licence. 
 

5.129 Motoring convictions 

Drivers of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles are professional drivers 
charged with the responsibility of carrying the public. Any motoring conviction 
demonstrates a lack of professionalism and will be considered seriously. It is 
accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single 
occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not normally prohibit the grant of a 
licence or may not result in action against an existing licence. Any subsequent 
convictions reinforce the fact that the licensee does not take their professional 
responsibilities seriously and is therefore not a safe and suitable person to be 
granted or retain a licence. 

5.130 Offences involving Drink driving or driving under the influence of 
drugs  

 

Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the 
influence of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 7seven years have 
elapsed since the completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever 
is the later. 

61



5.141 Using a hand-held telephone or handheld device whilst driving 

Where an applicant has a conviction for using a hand-held mobile telephone or a 
hand-held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 
years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving 
ban imposed, whichever is the later. 

5.152 Other motoring offences 

A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does not involve loss of 
life, driving under the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile 
phone, and has not resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property 
(including vehicles).  

A driver licence will not be granted to any new driver applicant who has 9 or 
more points for minor motoring convictions showing on their driving licence. 

Existing licence holders reaching seven or more points for minor motoring 
convictions will receive a warning and will be required to attend appropriate 
training, as defined by the authority, at their own expense. 

Existing licence holders reaching 9nine points or more for minor motoring 
convictions and who have previously attended training under this policy may 
have their licence refused or revoked dependent on the individual circumstances 
of the driver concerned and offences omitted.  In considering such action, the 
intention of the policy will be to only refuse or revoke a licence where there are 
very clear concerns for public safety.   

Any offence which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including 
vehicles), or any insurance offence then a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years 
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence. 

 

5.163 Hackney carriage and private hire offences 

Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with or connected 
to hackney carriage or private hire activity, including use of a licensed vehicle, a 
licence will not be granted until at least 7seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 

6.0  Outstanding charges or summonses 

If an applicant is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons their 
application will be held and not progressed until the outcome of the proceedings 
has been determined.   

7.0  Non-conviction information 

If an applicant has been arrested or charged, but not convicted, for a serious 
offence which falls within the policy which suggests they could be a danger to 
the public, consideration will be given, under the Council’s scheme of delegation 
to refusing the application or revocation if licensed.. 

62



In assessing the action to take, the safety of the travelling public must be the 
paramount concern. 

8.0 Behaviours 

Driver behaviours that fall short of criminal behaviour but are indicators of more sinister 
behaviour need to be addressed to maintain confidence in the taxi trades and to stop 
unwanted behaviours before they evolve into criminal acts.  

 
Behaviours such as  

• Asking a passenger for their contact or social media details 
• Asking personal or intimate questions 
• Inappropriate physical contact with passengers or invade their personal space 
• Inappropriate conversations, questions or behaviour 
 
This is more important if the passenger is a lone vulnerable individual.  

 
Except in the most serious of cases, drivers should be given a warning in the first instance, 
if appropriate sent on refresher safeguarding training and explained how the behaviour 
maybe perceived by a vulnerable passenger.  

 
If the behaviour, on the balance of probability, is repeated and considered to be predatory 
in nature then any applicant should not be licensed. 
 

 

8.0  Cautions 

An admission of guilt is required before a caution can be issued; therefore 
cautions are treated the same as a conviction and applied as above pertinent to 
the type of offence. Every case will be considered on its own merits including the 
details and nature of the offence. 

9.0  Licences issued by other licensing authorities 

Applicants who hold a licence with one licensing authority should not 
automatically assume that their application will be granted by another. Each case 
will be decided on its own merits. 

Licensees who are licensed by multiple authorities are expected to inform all 
such authorities of the authorities that they are licensed by and to advise each 
authority of any changes in this respect. They should expect those authorities to 
share information regarding their conduct and to take it into account as 
appropriate. 

One of the background checks carried out for new and renewal drivers, involves 
a review of the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) NR3S database. Officers will 
check the applicant’s name against the NR3S Register held by NAFN to 
determine if another Licensing Authority has taken action against the 

63



applicant/driver. If a positive match is found, background information will be 
obtained and considered by the Licensing Authority. 

The register provides names of all those drivers/applicants who have had a 
licence application refused, revoked or suspended.  

This is to protect the public and ensure that any driver who has been revoked or 
refused a licence does not obtain a licence with another authority, by simply 
failing to supply previous licence history. The database provides the opportunity 
for every Local Authority to properly consider applicants and the background to a 
previously refused or revoked licence, by another authority. 

Licensing authorities will retain the reasons for any refusal, revocation or 
suspension and provide those to other authorities as appropriate under the 
terms and conditions of the database. 

Where this Licensing Authority has refused to grant a driver licence to an 
applicant or has had a licence revoked or suspended, or it has expired during a 
period of suspension, no new application will be considered for a at least three 
years (in line with the time periods above) from the date of refusal, revocation 
or expiry.  

Any application subsequently received, will be determined by members of a 
Licensing Sub-Committee who will consider the applicant’s history and 
background. 

 

10.0  Summary 

It is vital that passengers, other road users and society have confidence in the 
licensing regime and can rely on the suitability of all those involved in providing 
licensed vehicles. Careful consideration must be given to all applications and a 
thorough vetting of applicants must be undertaken.  

This Appendix is intended to assist the Licensing Authority in determining the 
suitability of applicants and licensees. It also provides clear guidance for 
applicants and licence holders with regard to the standards expected by the 
Authority. 

64



General Purposes and Licensing Committee – 5 September 2025 

Licensing Performance Report 

Purpose For EMT to consider the report on the 
performance of the Licensing Service, prior to 
presentation to the General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee.  

Classification Public  

Executive Summary The report highlights the work of the Licensing 
Authority over the past 12 months and sets out 
the workplan for 2025-26 

Recommendation That the General Purposes and Licensing 
Committee notes the performance of the 
Licensing Service over the past year and 
supports the work plan for the forthcoming 
year.  

Reasons for 
recommendation(s) 

To ensure that General Purposes and Licensing 
Committee Members are brought up to date with 
events and data from Licensing Services. 

Ward(s) All  

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Dan Poole 

Strategic Director(s) Richard Knott – Strategic Director of Housing & 
Communities 

Officer Contact Joanne McClay 

Service Manager – Environmental and 
Regulation 

023 8028 5325 

joanne.mcclay@nfdc.gov.uk  

 

Christa Ferguson 
Licensing Manager 
023 8028 5352 

christa.ferguson@nfdc.gov.uk 

 

  

65

Agenda Item 5

mailto:christa.ferguson@nfdc.gov.uk


Introduction 

1. The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the General 
Purposes and Licensing Committee of the activities undertaken by 
the Council’s Licensing Service to discharge their function during 
2024/25. 

Taxi licensing 

Implementation of the taxi policy 

2. In February 2025, the new Taxi Licensing Policy became effective 
following extensive consultation with members of the public, the 
business community and private hire trade. The policy was reviewed 
and updated following changes to legislation, best practice and 
statutory guidance and benchmarking of standards across 
Hampshire. 

3. Proposed amendments were approved and adopted on improvements 
to driver, vehicle and operator standards including safeguarding 
requirements, acceptable standards for vehicles and testing, the 
convictions policy, and revised licence conditions.  

4. Proposals which had a potential significant impact on the trade were 
thoroughly considered by Members and following review of the 
consultation responses approved and adopted that: 

• all new licensed vehicles must meet Euro 6 emission 
standards  

• there are no upper age limits or emission standards on 
vehicles currently licensed  

• wheelchair accessible vehicles are exempt from emissions and 
age criteria, and  

• from 1 April 2025, door signage was required to be affixed to 
each rear passenger door panel of a private hire vehicle.   

Amendments to Appendix B – Conviction Policy 

5. The Institute of Licensing (IOL) revised its Suitability Guidance at the 
end of 2024 to include information on offenders and offending, 
update thresholds and considerations for some offences when 
considering licence applications and placed an emphasis on risk-
based decision making. 

6. A report will be presented to members on 5 September 2025 seeking 
to incorporate this updated guidance into the Taxi Licensing Policy 
and to agree a consultation to this effect. The IOL guidance seeks to 
promote consistency in decision making across Licensing Authorities, 
continue to raise standards and assist in the protection of the public.  

66



Licences for drivers, operators and vehicles 

7. The trade was hit hard by the pandemic and was subsequently affected 
by fuel price increases and the recent cost of living crisis. However, as 
the table below shows, there has been significant increase in 
applications and licensed vehicles since 2022.  

Licences issued per year 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Combined driver licences 219 193 233 
Hackney carriage vehicles 99 103 102 
Private hire vehicles 152 231 423 

 

8. The team has seen an increase in vehicle licence applications from 
drivers outside of New Forest district, including Southampton and 
Bournemouth and as further afield as Reading. Legally, the Council is 
required to licence all drivers and vehicles which meet the required 
standard, irrespective of where they live (and potentially work). 

9. There are many reasons why applicants and drivers that live and work 
outside of the district may choose to apply and be licensed by NFDC, 
which could include: 

• NFDC licence Uber, whereas others do not and therefore those 
wishing to work for Uber may apply to us, 

• Efficiency of service often dictates where applicants apply, based 
on licence processing times. The Licensing Authority provide a 
good customer service, with quick response times and timely 
licensing processes. 

• Variations in standards, such as for new and existing vehicles. 
Implications of the New Euro 6 Policy will not be reflected in the 
figures, as this was only introduced in February 2025. 

Driver Knowledge Tests 

10. All new applicants must pass a knowledge test prior to gaining a 
driver licence and new and renewal drivers must complete 
safeguarding training. The driver knowledge test includes questions 
on the geographic area, taxi and private hire law, the highway code 
and English language and numeracy questions. 

11. The team has moved from a paper-based test format to applicants 
carrying out the test digitally on a tablet. This has streamlined the 
driver knowledge process, reduced officer time in administering the 
test (as the marking process is automated), improves the experience 
for the applicant due to the improved format and significantly 
reduces paper usage.  

  

67



Hardley depot 

12. All licensed vehicles have assessments undertaken at the depot 
workshops on an annual basis and those vehicles which are 8 years 
and older are required to have twice yearly assessments. These 
assessments are required in addition to an MOT. 

13. In February 2025, all vehicle testing carried out at Clay Meadow 
depot in Hounsdown, moved to Hardley depot.  

14. At the time of writing 255 vehicles have been inspected by mechanics 
at Hardley depot in line with the standards in the Policy on 
cleanliness, seatbelts, steering, bodywork, brakes, tyres and lights 
etc. and the improved design of this depot allows drivers to view the 
assessment on a TV screen whilst it is being carried out. Additional 
driver assessments are also carried out at Lymington depot.  

Refusal and revocation of licences  

15. In the period covered by this report (1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025) 
the following actions were taken for new applicants, existing drivers 
and renewal applicants where offences or conduct issues were 
considered in relation to the “fit and proper test”. 

 
New 
applicant 

Delegated Powers 
or Committee 

Action 

1 Delegated powers Refused based on previous 
revocation by a 
neighbouring authority 

 
 

Review of 
existing 
licence 

Delegated Powers 
or Licensing Sub 
Committee (LSC) 

Action 

2 Delegated powers Both revoked with 
immediate effect. 

4 LSC Immediate revocation of 
licence (2 cases). 
Licence suspended for 3 
months and driving course 
required. 
Licence suspended for 6 
months. 
 

 
NB.  Action is taken under delegated powers in consultation with the Chair 

or Vice Chair of General Purposes and Licensing Committee when it is 
considered that immediate action is required due to a risk to public 
safety.  

68



Taxi driver appeal hearing 

16. In May 2025, officers successfully defended an appeal at West 
Hampshire Crown Court, Southampton. The original decision was 
taken on 24 November 2023 by the Licensing Sub Committee to 
revoke his NFDC driver licence following a conviction for stalking. The 
decision was appealed and during this time period the appellant could 
continue driving the licensed vehicle.  

17. At the first appeal on 12 September 2024, the District Judge at 
Southampton Magistrates Court upheld the revocation decision. 
However, the appellant submitted a further appeal, to the Crown 
Court. 

18. The Judge at the Crown Court hearing, dismissed the appeal and the 
Council were awarded costs. The driver has been informed that he 
can no longer drive a vehicle licensed by the Council. 

19. This has been a complex and lengthy case but shows the importance 
the Licensing Authority place in safeguarding residents and visitors 
who use the licensed taxi trade in the New Forest.  

Fees and Charges 

20. Licensing fees and charges are reviewed on an annual basis or when 
there are new policies which impact on the cost of delivering the 
service.  

21. Fees and charges which are not statutorily set, are benchmarked 
against other Hampshire and neighbouring Licensing Authorities and 
reflect the cost of performing the licensing function without 
generating an income. 

22. All fees and charges will be reviewed and presented to the General 
Purposes and Licensing Committee in January 2026 for consideration 
and implementation from 1 April 2026.  

23. The Licensing Authority has a high collection and recovery rate for all 
fees and charges, due to a number of mechanisms in place to ensure 
licensable activities don’t continue without payment. Gambling 
Licences are revoked following nonpayment of the annual fee and 
licences under the Licensing Act are suspended, which prevent 
licensable activities on the premises. In addition, fees for new 
licences must be received, before an application is progressed.  

24. The Compliance Officer undertakes verification checks to ensure non 
licensed premises are no longer operating and takes appropriate 
action where required. 

69



25. In addition, Southern Internal Audit Partnership undertake audits of 
the Licensing Authority processes for collection of fees to ensure they 
are complaint, robust and effective. 

Licensing Act 2003 

Applications under the Licensing Act 

26. The following statistics provide a snapshot of trends, over the past 3 
years. 

Licences issued per year 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Temporary Events Notices (TENs)  682 768 787 
Premises Licences and Club 

Premises Certificates 
(New, variations, and change 

DPS/PLH) 

251 292 258 

Personal licences applications 
(grant and changes) 

159 169 148 

Minor Variations applications (PL and 
CPC) 

13 15 19 

Review of Premises licence  1 0 0 
 
27. There has been a continued increase in TENs applications over the past 

3 years, mainly due to an upturn in the economy, following he 
pandemic, leading to a growth in the number of events, which may 
have been previously delayed, in addition to new events. 

28. The number of new premises applying for licences and new personal 
licences remains fairly constant. Although a small number of premises 
licences are surrendered each year, new licences are granted which 
compensates for those lost. 

Licensing subcommittee hearings  

29. The following applications were considered by the Licensing Sub 
Committee.  

Date Nature of Application Decision 

6 December 
2024 

A new premises licence for a private 
school 

Objections received from Residents   

Granted 

31 March 2025 An application to vary the premises 
licence for a campsite.  
Objections received from local 
residents 

Granted 

70



 
30. The number of Licensing Act hearings in 2024/5 were low and are 

dependent on the following: 
 

• The type of applications submitted, 

• Representations received from the public and how they feel 
the application will affect them, 

• Representations received from Responsible Authorities,  

• The type of premises applying for a licence or for variation, 

• Whether issues can be resolved through a staged approach,  

• Consideration of personal licence holders who have acquired 
relevant convictions. 

 
31. Many new or varied licence applications require a detailed review 

by the Licensing Manager and negotiation with objectors, 
applicants and Responsible Authorities, to endeavour to resolve 
areas of concerns and conflict with the application. This can be 
time consuming, requiring additional information and the 
agreement of further conditions to be placed on the licence to be 
granted. This informal approach in reaching an amicable outcome 
prevents the need for a hearing and only when all options have 
been explored and agreement is not reached, will a hearing be 
required. 

Other licences 

32. The Licensing Authority has a number of other licensed activities which 
is responsible for, which are included below: 

Licence Currently 
licensed 

Issued in 
2024/25 

Pleasure boat licences 16 5 
Boatmen licences 11 4 
New Lottery 137 12 
Gaming machine notifications and 
permits 

89 5 

Gaming Premises Licences 12 0 
Scrap metal site and collectors 17 2 
Temporary road closures - 46 
House to house collections - 27 
Street collections - 97 

 
Workplan for 2025 – 2026 

33. The Licensing Services priorities for 2025 – 26 are detailed in 
Appendix 1 in the Service Plan.  

71



34. Main priorities include the sub-contracting of the DBS application 
function to a third party, continue to update the Taxi Policy where 
appropriate when revised guidance is issued, annual review of fees and 
charges, whilst reviewing processes and procedures to ensure the best 
use is made of resources.  

Corporate plan priorities 

35. Theme: Prosperity 

36. Corporate Plan Objective: supporting our high-quality business 
base and economic centres to thrive and grow. 

37. Service Objective: Implementation of the Environmental and 
Regulation Service Plans. 

Financial and resource implications 

38. Delivery of the licensing work plan are met within the licensing 
budget.  

Legal Implications 

39. The Service Plan and work programme of the Licensing Authority is 
carried out in line with the Gambling and Licensing Policies and 
current statutory guidance. 

Risk assessment 

40. Risk assessments are in place for premises inspections by officers. 

Environmental/climate and nature implications 

41. Environmental implications are considered when reviewing policies 
which included the impact of licensed vehicles on air quality for the 
taxi Licensing Policy.  

Crime and disorder implications 

42. The Council as a Licensing Authority has a duty to uphold the 
licensing objectives when carrying out its functions, including the 
prevention of crime and disorder. The team work closely with internal 
council services and external partners to ensure the safety of our 
communities and to engage with businesses to ensure they operate 
in a compliant and safe way.  

Equality and diversity implications  

43. The licensing policies and processes in place (relating to alcohol 
licensing, gambling and taxi licensing) set standards to ensure that 
services are delivered which are responsive and protect the needs of 

72



our communities.  The Licensing Service works to protect the public, 
safeguarding children and the vulnerable. Policies provide a 
framework to support and regulate businesses consistently.   

 
 
Appendices: Background Papers: 
Appendix 1 – Licensing Service plan 
for 2025/26 

None 

 

73



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Licensing Service Plan 2025 - 2026 

Service:  Licensing to include taxis and private hire, alcohol, gambling, pleasure boats and boatmen, road closures, pavement 
licensing. 

Service Aims:  Provide an efficient and effective licensing service, in accordance with relevant legislation, statutory guidance and 
Council policies by ensuring that all premises, licence holders and vehicles meet the standards required in the New 
Forest. 

NFDC Corporate Plan 2024 – 2028: Corporate_plan_2024_to_2028.pdf (newforest.gov.uk)  
  
People priorities  

1. Helping those in our community with the greatest need.  
2. Empowering our residents to live healthy, connected and fulfilling lives.  

Place priorities  
3. Shaping our place now and for future generations.  
4. Protecting our climate, coast and natural world.  

Prosperity priorities  
5. Maximising the benefits of inclusive economic growth and investment.  
6. Supporting our high-quality business base and economic centres to thrive and grow.  

Future New Forest  
 

 

HIGH PRIORITY/STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT 
 Objective 

 
(What are we going to do) 
 

Timescale 
to 
complete 
(when) 
 

Milestones 
 
(how we will know when we completed, 
or we have achieved it) 
 

Lead 
officer 
 
(who) 
 

RAG 
Rating 
(on 
target) 

Comments/ 
Risks/Climat
e impact 

Link to 
corporate 
objectives 
/ national 
plans 
 

 High Priority/ Strategic       
1 Update the format of the DKTs to 

electronic based questions. Review 
questions. (Transformation). 

October 
2025 

Revised DKT format and questions. CF/ AC   6 

APPENDIX 1

75

https://www.newforest.gov.uk/media/3860/Corporate-plan-2024-to-2028/pdf/Corporate_plan_2024_to_2028.pdf?m=1712583002557


 

2 
 

2 Subcontract DBS checking process to 3rd 
party organisation (Taxi Plus) 
(Transformation) 

Dec 2025 Will provide drivers with online 
facility to upload documents. 
Quicker turnround for applicants 
and will assist reception and 
licensing with resource. 

CF   Transform 

3 Update the Taxi Licensing Policy with 
reference to the IOL Suitability Guidance 
 

Sept 2025 Minor additions to the policy JM CF    

4 Investigate mandatory CCTV option for 
NFDC vehicles 

April 2026 Work with other Hampshire 
authorities, consultation, evidence-
based investigation 

CF PD 
JM 

  1,2,6 

5 Review vehicle assessment forms used by 
the garages  
 

Dec 2025 To include new additions and 
changes to Taxi Policy 

CF SC 
PD 

   

6 Review of fees and charges for Taxi 
licensing 

Dec 2025 New fees and charges published 
based on sound time/resource 
statistics. GP&L approval 

JM CF    

7 Performance report on Licensing Activities Sept 2025 Report to GPL for increase Member 
awareness of activities 
 

JM CF    

 Reactive Service       
8 All licences/permits and certificates 

processed within statutory timescales. (all 
licence types including Taxis and 
Licensing Act 2003)  

March 
2026 

Quarterly review for performance 
flash report 

CF 
 

  Links with 
people 
and place 
priorities  

9 Responding to customer enquiries and 
complaints (all licence types including 
Taxis and Licensing Act 2003) 

March 
2026 

Timely response to service 
requests. Reviewed quarterly 

CF PD   Links with 
people 
and place 
priorities  

10 Inspection programme for alcohol and 
gambling licensed premises (Licensing 
and Gambling Acts) 

March 
2026 

Inspection programme delivered 
based on risk, complaints and 
intelligence. 

CF PD   Links with 
people 

76



 

3 
 

and place 
priorities  

11 Protection of the public through revocation 
of dual driver licences where fit and proper 
test is not met 
  

When 
required 

Revocations carried out in line with 
scheme of delegation and in a 
timely manner. Officer decision or 
hearing to take place. 

JM CF   1,2 

12 Licensing Act 2003. New and variations 
where valid representations received to an 
application. Liaison between relevant 
parties.  

When 
required 

Hearing held within timescale and 
application determined. 
Consultation with Democratic 
Services and Legal. 

CF JM 
DS and 
legal 

  1,2 

13 Continue to consult and administer new 
road closures. Implement through Acolaid 

On going Closures issued within timeframe. CF    6 

14 Continue to upskill new members of the 
team, working closely with admin team 
and improve resilience  

March 
2026 

Review roles  CF  In progress Transform 

15 Production and submission of statutory 
returns for HMRC, EA, LA03 and GA05 

When 
required 

Returns submitted within the 
timeframe.  

CF     

 

 

 

 

77



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Amendment to the taxi licensing policy based on the Institute of Licensing suitability guidance
	Appendix 1
	pt1
	pt2

	Appendix 2

	5 Licensing authority performance report
	Appendix 1 - Licensing Service Plan 2025-26


